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BASIC DETAILS 

 

Built       1795- c.1798     

Architect     James Wyatt 

Listing     Grade II* 

Landmark tenure   99 year lease from Cobham Hall  
          Trust 

 

Opened as a Landmark  December 2019 

Restoration architect  Alex Marlow of Purcells of Canterbury 
 

Quantity Surveyor   Karl Reichers of Huntley Cartwright 

Contractors Colman Building Contractors of 
Canterbury (Ginio Gonzalez-Bello, site 
manager; James Wood, contract 
manager) 

 

Paint analysis    Catherine Hassall  

Plasterwork    Philip Gaches of Peterborough 

Stained & painted glass  John Corley Studio of Deal 

Metalwork     Alan Coller of Canterbury 
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Supporters of Cobham Dairy 
We are enormously grateful to Ecclesiastical Insurance, a key sponsor for Cobham Dairy. 

Ecclesiastical was founded in 1887 to protect Anglican churches and church buildings against 
the risk of fire, and from the start, ploughed profits back into charitable work. Today, 

Ecclesiastical’s continuing charitable purpose sets them apart in their sector. They still insure 
churches, and today mosques, synagogues and Sikh and Hindu temples but around three-

quarters of their insurance business is now outside the faith sector. They have insured 
Landmark’s portfolio for decades and are market leader for insuring Grade I listed buildings, 
as well as over 47,000 charities and, with other insurers, 8 of the UK's World Heritage sites. 
They have supported independent schools for over 55 years. A significant proportion of 

profits are still given to the owner, Allchurches Trust, which also donates independently to 
deserving causes.  

Group Chief Executive Officer Mark Hews writes:  

 
Since 1887, leading heritage specialists Ecclesiastical Insurance, have been trusted to protect 

much of the UK’s irreplaceable historic environment and art collections. We directly employ a 

team of experts whose knowledge and passion give us a real appreciation of the unique 

nature of national treasures such as Cobham Dairy. 

Ecclesiastical and the Landmark Trust share an understanding of the profoundly enriching 

effect historic gems like Cobham Dairy have on our lives. And enriching lives is something 

both organisations care about deeply.  In fact, Ecclesiastical is owned by a charity and that 

means our core purpose is enriching lives by giving our profits back to good causes such as 

this.  

The Dairy is an illustration of the Trust’s passion for detail and respect for historic buildings, a 

sentiment echoed by Ecclesiastical. It demonstrates the importance of traditional techniques 

and materials, and a commitment to meticulous research and elegant planning and design. A 

team including some from The Prince’s Foundation craft apprentices, also supported by 

Ecclesiastical, worked tirelessly to help bring Cobham Dairy back to the gleaming example of 

James Wyatt’s original masterpiece. 

From everyone at Ecclesiastical Insurance, thank you to the Landmark Trust for a remarkable 

restoration. To those who visit the Dairy, we hope you and future generations, enjoy the rare 

glimpse into 18th-century life that this Landmark now provides. 

With our best wishes 

 

Mark Hews,  

Group Chief Executive Officer  
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Supporters of Cobham Dairy 
 

We are also hugely grateful to the 1,526 supporters who gave so generously to make the 
restoration of Cobham Dairy possible. 

 
Guardians of Cobham Dairy and other lead supporters 

Mr A Baker and Ms S Darling, Dr and Mrs J Bull, Cobham Hall Heritage Trust, Mr S Conrad, Dr C 
Guettler, Dr and Mrs C Lott, Mr J and Mrs J MacIntyre, Mr G Neame OBE and Mr and Mrs M Seale. 

 

Patrons and generous individuals 
Mrs C Alderson, Mr M Caporn, Mrs C Couchman, Mr H Eddis, Mr C Giffin, Mrs R Harvey, Mr D 

Haunton, Mr D Holberton, Mr S and Mrs R Jordan, Mr R Joye, Mr R and Mrs C Lockyer, Mr S Martin, 
Mr M Power, Mr B J Preston, Dr R Schofield, Mr B Sealey, Mr J Sharman, Mrs P Spens, and Mr A 

Wilson. 
 

Trusts and Foundations 
The Aall Foundation, The Ian Askew Charitable Trust, The Charlotte Bonham-Carter Charitable Trust, 
Bunbury Charitable Trust, The Leslie Mary Carter Charitable Trust, The Country Houses Foundation, 
The Eversley Trust, The Greys Charitable Trust, The H B Allen Charitable Trust, The Charles Michael 
Holloway Charitable Trust, William & Edith Oldham Charitable Trust, The Leche Trust, The Oakdale 

Trust, The Pilgrim Trust. 
 

Gifts in Wills: 
Mrs S Preston, Mr J Senior, and Mrs P Smith. 

 

Other corporate supporters: 
Waitrose  

 
Dr R & Mrs E Jurd made a donation towards the cost of the Landmark books. 

We thank all who have supported the appeal, including players of the Landmark Raffle, 
other Guardians, Patrons and trusts, and those have chosen to remain anonymous. 

 
Thank you! 

 

Research acknowledgements 

 
Research for the restoration of the Dairy and this album benefitted from the Historical 

Account of Cobham Hall Estate written by Roger Bowdler for CAMS and English 
Heritage in 2002 (Reports & Papers 73). 

 
Thanks too to the staff at Medway Archives for help on the Darnley Papers, and the 
Yale Center for British Art for free access to, and use of, the digitized plans of the 

Dairy by James Wyatt. 

 
  

http://www.landmarktrust.org.uk/support-us/ways-of-giving/trusts-and-foundations/
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Cobham Dairy soon after completion in December 2019, and the 
restored vaulting in the central chamber. 
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Summary 
 
Grade II* Cobham Dairy was designed in 1794-5 for the 4th Earl of Darnley by James 
Wyatt, one of the most prolific and renowned 18th-century architects. Not only is it an 
outstanding example of a late-Georgian pleasure Dairy, it is also an exceptionally well-
documented building since Wyatt’s annotated plans and elevations survive at Yale, as 
do the estate accounts at Medway Archives. 
 
Masquerading as a diminutive chapel, the Dairy provides a Gothick eye-catcher in the 
pleasure grounds south of Cobham Hall, an Elizabethan great house updated by 
Wyatt for the 3rd and 4th Earls in the same years that Humphry Repton was 
refashioning its surrounding landscape. Wyatt also designed the spectacular 
pyramidal mausoleum for the 3rd Earl in the woods nearby (never finally used, and 
now in the care of the National Trust). 
 
Model dairies such as this were a distinctively feminine space in a largely male world. 
Mary II had such a Dairy at Hampton Court as early as 1689; Marie Antoinette also 
played at milkmaids in a Dairy at Le Hameau in Versailles in the 1780s. It was a place 
where the ladies of the house could repair to enjoy the simple pleasures of butter 
churning, making cheese and skimming cream, in cool dark spaces that were typically 
both functional and highly decorative, using specially made china vessels and 
altogether more refined than a typical working farm Dairy. Conversation and the 
tasting of the Dairy’s produce might follow. 
 
The Cobham example is no exception. In mimicking a little chapel: it has a central 
double height chamber with clerestory windows that held coloured glass and the 
Darnley arms, much like the Wyatt screen in the entrance hall to the Hall. This is 
surrounded on three sides by arcaded ‘cloisters,’ originally all open loggias although 
we have enclosed that on the south side to gain the space necessary for the Dairy’s 
new use.  
 
Dairies were designed to be kept cool. Here, the exterior was entirely clad in slates, 
butt-jointed, beautifully shaped around the Gothick arches of the arcades and then 
painted in sanded paint in imitation of stone. These slates were mostly removed in the 
1980s; those that remain are a rare and very important survival of this short-lived 
innovation, a product of the explosion in building techniques in late Georgian years.  
Slate cladding was favoured by Wyatt for the evenness of texture it lent otherwise 
humble brick structures (not least because he had a family interest in the Penrhyn 
quarries from where the slate originated). 
 
The Dairy’s open entrance loggia faces north towards the Hall. A glazed door led off 
the loggia into a main chamber with a sunken floor. In the centre of this was a large 
circular feature, rather like a font, in which cold water or even ice might be put to keep 
a bowl of Dairy produce cool. On one side wall there are three pointed alcoves, the 
middle ones deeper and perhaps once used for display or the storage of the dishes.  
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Cobham Dairy before restoration. 
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A shelf of cool Carrara marble ran around the walls of the chamber, with a 
quadripartite vaulted ceiling of plastered lathes above, springing from corbels of 
clustered oak leaves. The south and west cloisters were also vaulted.   
 
The south and east cloisters were the (real life) Dairymaid’s quarters: she slept in the 
east cloister, warmed by a small fireplace in her scullery, with a copper for warming 
and cleaning the pans. The small hearth fed into a flue that emerges disguised as a 
tiny bell tower, complete with a bell whose tolling, perhaps, called the cows to be 
milked. A few years after the Dairy was built, a fine rustic wooden Cowhouse was built 
nearby, since lost. This was probably designed by Humphry Repton, since his son 
George left careful record drawings of it. Behind the Dairy is a ruined sunken feature, 
that was a cold store, or even an ice house, although there is another ice-house 
elsewhere in the grounds. 
 
The Dairy has been on Landmark’s radar since the mid-1990s. By the time Cobham 
Hall became a girls’ boarding school in 1962, the Dairy had deteriorated, descending 
into near ruination, its fine plaster ceilings falling to the ground. In the 1980s, an SPAB 
working party cleared the walls of ivy and the structure was repaired and re-roofed 
into a weathertight shell. Despite the importance of the building, during these years 
the school authorities were reluctant to allow third party use in their grounds, and after 
the restoration of the Darnley Mausoleum under the Cobham Ashenbank 
Management Scheme in 2013, the Dairy became the last piece of unfinished business 
on the estate. 
 
Thanks to the surviving evidence, documentary as well as physical, Landmark has 
been able to carry out a particularly thorough restoration. Wyatt’s slate cladding 
technique has been revived for the exterior, and, painted with sanded paint, the 
building again gleams against the trees as if made of fine white stone. A master 
plasterer and his team have recreated the vaulted ceilings in the main chamber and 
cloisters alike, reinstating work attributed to stuccadero Francis Bernasconi, who was 
working at Cobham Hall 1800-1809 on very similar ceilings. Decorative bosses and 
corbels were remodelled in situ by hand. New leaded windows have been made, with 
slips of coloured glass and the 4th Earl and Countess’s coats of arms painted onto the 
entrance door. A new shelf of Carrara marble was installed around the central 
chamber, standing on specially made cast iron supports. The decorative floor, of 
Portland and red Cumbrian stone, was pieced back together after the installation of 
underfloor heating beneath. 
 
Frustratingly, no evidence has yet come to light in letters or family papers of examples 
of use of the Dairy, but we do know the name of its first Dairymaids, Sarah Hemmings 
and then Ann Parsons. Cobham Dairy was a happy combination of genuinely working 
Dairy (with resident Dairymaid and Cowhouse) and pleasure Dairy, where the 
Countess might divert her friends and her children. Its exquisite form certainly proves 
that it was built to please the most polite of company. 
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William Brooke, 10th Baron 
Cobham (1527-1597) was a 
powerful statesman under 
Elizabeth I and Warden of the 
Cinque Ports. He made Cobham 
Hall his main seat and added the 
wings to the house that still give 
it a 16th-century character. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In the family portrait below, 
Brooke is shown with his 
deceased and second wives and 
his six surviving children 
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Cobham Hall and the Earls of Darnley 
 

Cobham Hall, the magnificent mansion in full sight of the Dairy, is now a girls’ school, 

so public access is mostly restricted during term time and by special arrangement only 

at other times. Its history is bound to intrigue and forms the backdrop to that of 

Cobham Dairy, and so a brief account follows. Three articles about the hall written for 

Country Life by architectural historian John Cornforth in 1983, and one by Roger 

Bowdler in 2013, are also appended.  

 

Cobham Hall is an ancient manor, first granted to William de Cobham in 1208.  

Henryy de Cobham (c.1260-1339) was created Baron Cobham of the first creation in 

1313. After 1408, the manor descended by marriage to the Brooke family. In the mid-

16th century, William Brooke, 10th Lord Cobham and a powerful Elizabethan courtier, 

made the manor his principal seat.  

 

Brooke’s career took him to the heart of successive regimes, first as part of Edward 

VI’s retinue; next weathering the vagaries of Mary I’s reign and then inheriting his title 

and father’s position as Warden of the Cinque Ports just as Elizabeth came to the 

throne, a role in which she confirmed him.1 The wardenship also gave him important 

patronage over the Ports’ parliamentary seats. Lord Cobham was an ally and close 

friend of William Cecil, Elizabeth I’s most trusted servant, and became a Knight of the 

Garter and member of the Privy Council in 1586. In 1559, the very first year of her 

reign, Lord Cobham was given the priceless and expensive privilege of entertaining 

Elizabeth I herself. The main house was not yet improved and in an astute piece of 

improvisation, Lord Cobham built her a treehouse in compensation.  

  

                                            
 
 
1 The Cinque – pronounced Sink – Ports are the ancient ports along the south and east coasts that 
were granted relief from various taxes and customs in return for the provision of ships in defence of the 
realm. 
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In Holinshed’s Chronicle, Sir John Thynne described this folly as ‘A banqueting house 

made for her Majesty in Cobham Park, with a goodly gallery thereto composed each 

side with a fair row of hawthorn trees, which nature seemed to have planted of 

purpose in summer to welcome her Majesty and to know her lord and master.’2  

 

Lord Cobham played an active part at the heart of the Elizabethan regime, treading a 

careful path through religious contentions, and his status was reflected in his 

development of Cobham Hall.  During a period of apparent withdrawal from public 

affairs, in 1584, he added the wings to the house and laid out a garden.  

 

William Brooke’s son Henry, 11th Lord Cobham, succeeded his father in 1597 

including as Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports, but was much less astute as a political 

operator. Henry was implicated in the Main Plot, a conspiracy with Lord Grey that 

sought to depose James I from the English throne in favour of his cousin Lady Arbella 

Stuart, great-great-granddaughter of Henry VII through Margaret Tudor, sister of 

Henry VIII. A regiment of soldiers was to be raised to force the coup d’etat with money 

raised from the Spanish, with whom Lord Cobham was to negotiate. Henry Brooke 

also allegedly drew Sir Walter Ralegh into the plot (something Ralegh always 

contested).  

 

Henry’s brother George was still more inept as a conspirator. He became involved in 

the Bye Plot with two Catholic priests, planning to abduct the king and the Privy 

Council to force them to stop the persecution of English Catholics. The Bye Plot was 

discovered, and, perhaps in the vain hope of escaping the death penalty for treason, 

George informed on his brother’s plot. George was executed in 1603. In 1604, Lords 

Cobham and Grey, and Sir Walter Ralegh, were all stripped of their honours and lands 

and imprisoned in the Tower of London for high treason. Ralegh’s imprisonment 

rested largely upon the ‘hearsay’ testimony of his erstwhile friend, Lord Cobham, 

whom James I refused to allow to testify.  

                                            
 
 
2 Cit. Wingfield-Stratford (1959), p. 64. 
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Cobham Hall was confiscated by the Crown along with the rest of Lord Cobham’s 

estates, and the first creation of the title came to an end.  

 

In 1612, James I granted the manor of Cobham and Cobham Hall and its gardens and 

estate to Ludovic Stuart, 2nd Duke of Lennox and from 1623 Earl of Richmond (2nd 

creation), later merged with the Dukedom of Richmond. The 4th Duke enlarged the 

Cobham estate in 1636-8. After the turmoil of the Civil War and Cromwell’s 

Protectorate, the 6th Duke set about a partial remodelling of the house in 1661-3. 

Peter Mills of London was brought in to create the classical central block, the ‘Cross 

Wing.’ The park was also developed in the 1660s and it is likely that the formal 

avenues date from this period. The 6th Duke overreached himself and in 1722 died 

heavily in debt. The following year, Lord Harley wrote that Cobham Hall had ‘the face 

of great ruin approaching.’3 

 

The Cobham estate then descended through a complicated pattern of inheritance and 

marriage to John Bligh (1687-1728), who was created 1st  Earl of Darnley in  the Irish 

Peerage in 1725, as George I revived the ancient earldom for its third creation. The 

Blighs had done well out of the redistribution of Irish lands under Cromwell: their Irish 

seat was at Athboy in Co. Meath. The family retained strong Irish links throughout the 

18th and 19th centuries, and it was the wealth from their Irish lands, connections and 

marriages that underpinned renewed development of the estate during the late-

Georgian period. 

 

  

                                            
 
 
3 Cornforth (1983) Pt I, p450. 
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John Bligh, 3rd earl of Darnley, 
served as MP for Athboy 1739-
1748, and at Westminster for 
Maidstone 1741-1747. 
He succeeded to the title in 1747 
and in 1765 entered the House of 
Lords. In Sept 1766, the ‘ageing 
nobleman’— he was almost 48-
years-old — suddenly married 
eighteen-year-old Mary Stoyte, a 
wealthy heiress. This unexpected 
union, between a sworn bachelor 
and such a young woman, rather 
shocked Dublin society. The 
family biographer writes of Mary 
as ‘Prim, plain, beady-eyed, and 
rather pleasantly old-maidish’. 
She had attracted an army of 
young suitors wanting to get their 
hands on her money, but finally 
gravitated ‘to the safekeeping of a 
middle-aged partner… substantial 

in every sense of the word’.  

Mary Stoyte, 3rd 
Countess of Darnley, 
with her eldest son 
Lord Clifton, the future 
4th Earl, and his sister 
Mary  
(details unknown) 
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The 1st Earl was succeeded by his eldest son, who died unmarried in 1747 aged just 

31. His younger brother, also John Bligh (1719-1781), then inherited as the 3rd Earl. In 

1766, he married Mary Stoyte, a rich heiress and daughter of a Dublin lawyer, and 

immediately set about altering and refurbishing Cobham Hall. A third storey was 

added to the central block and interior decoration was undertaken by George 

Shakespear (although architectural historians have been thrown by the evidence of 

some payment to architect Sir William Chambers). A kitchen court was added to the 

east in 1771-2. 

 

When the 3rd Earl died in 1781, his son, also John Bligh, inherited as the 4th Earl 

Darnley (1767-1831). Hugh Howard, who went to the 3rd Earl’s funeral, described the 

atmosphere of the place evocatively in a letter to his brother: 

‘As this place is ye full as retired as Shelton is and is neither enlivened by a 
River or the distant roaring of the sea and is hidden in the wilds of Kent, you 
cannot expect any news from it. The house might as a well serve as a college 
of 300 monks..it has the air of centuries. You see the swiftness of squirrels 
running up the trees and springing from Tree to Tree along a whole Stately 
Row, the flight of woodpeckers that are a sort of winged Squirrel and at night 
you hear the solemn hooting of owls, which as well as Batts are innumerable. 
The Park in many places has the appearance of a Park worn out with age. 
There are hundreds of Trees of immense girth; seemingly worn with years, 
hollow and rotten within and without, and covered with huge warts and 
excresences.’ 

 

There was clearly work to be done, and for all the 3rd Earl’s contributions, his son 

would far overshadow him as an improver of house and estate, and as a collector.  It 

is this 4th Earl that concerns us for Cobham Dairy.  

 

This John Bligh was just 14 when he inherited, still a schoolboy at Eton.4 He was 

already a keen cricketer, and became a highly regarded amateur, playing in many 

first-class matches alongside his brother, the Honourable Edward Bligh.  

  

                                            
 
 
4 Many of the letters that passed between John and his parents while he was at Eton are reproduced in 
The Lords of Cobham Hall, a copy of which is on the Dairy shelves. 
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John Bligh, 4th Earl of Darnley (1767-1831), was a great 
improver of the Hall and estate and builder of the Dairy. 

(Attr. Thomas Philips) 
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Their Irish origins earned them the distinction of being known as ‘the first Irish first-

class cricketers’ (and future Darnleys were also known for their cricketing prowess). 

One of the 4th Earl’s first actions as a teenager was to establish a menagerie in the 

grounds, containing a leopard, cassowaries, wallabies and other exotic animals.  

 
From 1787- 88, on reaching 21, he went on a Grand Tour, travelling as far as St 

Petersburg, although little is known of his exact itinerary. What seems sure is that it 

fuelled a passion for collecting. He became an indefatigable collector over four 

decades, filling the house with art and sculpture at a time when treasures could be 

easily snapped up by those with the resources, as war and revolution swept Europe. 

Great collections were broken up and sold on, often at knock down prices, such as the 

Duc d’Orléans collection, sold in London in 1792. The Duc, later King Louis Philippe, 

later visited Cobham Hall and must have viewed the examples he had once owned 

with mixed feelings. As well (of course) as many original pieces, the Cobham 

collection included two Coade stone replicas of the Borghese and Medici Vases 

displayed outside the west front and probably ordered by Repton. They are now kept 

in the house after attempted theft in 2002. 

 

The 4th Earl, who was on familiar terms with the Prince Regent, later became a well-

regarded Parliamentarian and generally fulfilled all the duties expected of a nobleman. 

On August 26th 1791, he married Elizabeth Brownlow, youngest daughter of William 

Brownlow, the MP for Co. Armagh. Elizabeth thus became his Countess. It was a 

happy marriage and they had seven children together, four sons and three daughters, 

at least six of whom arrived during the 1790s. Their son and heir was born in 1795 (a 

previous son died a few days after birth). It is possible that it was this event that 

prompted the construction of the Dairy, as such buildings were often gifts from 

husbands to their wives.  We can therefore imagine the Dairy as a destination for a 

gaggle of little siblings and their nursemaids, as well as for the adults and their guests.   
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  A rare surviving portrait 
of Elizabeth née 
Brownlow, 4th Countess 
of Darnley. Her daughter 
Elizabeth was born in 
1792, so this must have 
been painted 1794-5, 
around the time the Dairy 
was being planned.  
 
(By John Hoppner. Museum of 
Fine Arts, Houston.) 

 
 
 
 
 
Below: aerial view of 
Cobham Hall. Lord 
Brooke’s Elizabethan 
wings extend to the 
south, beyond which (off 

right) lies the Dairy. 
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The 4th Earl made significant alterations to the house ( or ‘the Hab’ – habitation – as 

he christened it while still at Eton), its surrounding landscape and the wider 

agricultural estate. The estate accounts reveal a little kingdom of buildings designed 

for both pleasure and utility, in the intertwining of self-indulgence and practicality that 

characterised the Georgian aristocracy. In undertaking his improvements, the 4th Earl 

retained James Wyatt’s services and soon brought in the equally renowned landscape 

designer, Humphry Repton.  

 

James Wyatt had already been employed to execute the 3rd Earl’s vision for a family 

mausoleum on the estate (see later chapter) and he worked on the estate for the next 

twenty years for the 4th Earl, first rebuilding the stables and service court at the house, 

to heighten the distinction between the polite and the agricultural around the house. 

The Earl also relocated numerous farm buildings from east of the house to Lodge 

Farm (see later chapter) and elsewhere. Wyatt was commissioned to undertake 

extensive internal remodelling to the house during the last decade of the century, 

creating a Gothick ‘cloister’ as an entrance vestibule along the west front, with vaulted 

ceiling and a screen of coloured and painted glass that acted as a reference for the 

restoration of the Dairy. The magnificent Gilt Hall was further embellished by an 

abundance of gilding, ‘for a music room of such excessive richness and profusion of 

gilding, by the varied genious [sic] of James Wyatt, as to appear to be unrivalled’, 

recorded The Kent Register in 1793. The 4th Earl used the Gilt Hall to display his 

extensive collection of sculptures and portraits, as he turned Cobham Hall into one of 

the treasure houses of Regency England. The estate also offered excellent shooting: 

one of the many guests was the fellow Anglo-Irishman, the Duke of Wellington, who, it 

is said, narrowly escaped mortal injury from a stray round on a shooting party in the 

1820s. 
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The famous Gilt Hall at Cobham Hall, designed and created by 
master carpenter and architect George Shakespear in the 1770s for 

the 3rd Earl, and later gilded under James Wyatt’s guidance. 
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Humphry Repton was perhaps even more significant a mentor for the young Earl; 

when Repton died in 1818, the 4th Earl erected an alcove called Repton’s Seat in his 

pleasure gardens, a tribute to a partnership lasting more than a quarter of a century. 

Repton’s proposals to integrate the house and grounds were followed through with 

care. There seems a hint of professional rivalry in Repton’s observations about his 

young patron in 1790 that ‘His ideas are very magnificent and they have already been 

realised by costly specimens of architecture from the designs of James Wyatt. But 

while such great works are nearly completed, little or nothing seems to be done for the 

comfort of the place, and there is much to do. The large rooms and galleries are filled 

with valuable pictures, yet from want of proper communications, the house is hardly 

habitable.’5 

 

Repton created one of his famous Red Books for the estate in 1790 and much of the 

mature tree planting on the estate dates back to his gentle alterations. The beds and 

shrubberies owe more to mid-Victorian and later revisions to the garden. Looking back 

at his work at Cobham, Repton later wrote: 

‘Whether we consider its extent, its magnificence or its comfort, there are few 
places which can vie with Cobham…and none…where so much has been 
done, both to house and grounds under my direction, for so long a series of 
years; yet…the general improvements originated in the good taste of its noble 
proprietor…On the whole, Cobham furnishes a striking example of artificial 
arrangement, for convenience, in the ground immediately adjoining the house, 
contributing to the natural advantage of its situation, and scenery, and enriched 
by luxuriant foliage, and verdure. The home views give a perfect idea of what a 
park ought to be, without affecting to be a forest; for, although the extent of its 
domain might warrant such a character, there is a natural beauty in the face of 
the country that is more beautiful than romantic, more habitable than wild.’6 
 

  

                                            
 
 
5 Cit. Bowdler (2005) 

6 Loudon, ed. (1840, p. 421. 
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Josiah Wedgwood (1730-1795) made cream 
ware for dairies as early as 1769, spotting 
and intensifying the market opportunity 
presented by the fashion for pleasure 
dairies. His Staffordshire factory supplied 
tiles and Dairy wares to a number of grand 
estates during the 1780s and 1790s. 
Buyers could examine samples of 
Wedgwood's Dairy wares at his London 
showrooms from 1769, when he wrote to  
his sales manager telling him to show and 
take orders for the 'Cream Vases for dairies 
of a new pattern'.  
 
Left: A Wedgwood Dairy pail (V & A). Other 
Wedgwood cream vases are made in four 
pieces, with an interior lining (which helped 
keep the cream cool) and a two-part cover. A 
notch in the cover of this piece was used for 

a stirring spoon.  

Left: a monogrammed Wedgwood cream vase, destined for an aristocratic 
pleasure Dairy. 

Right: Lady Spencer’s Dairy at Althorp (1786), with Wedgwood’s cream 
Queen’s Ware tiles and cream vases hand-painted with trailing ivy. 

Wedgwood cannily named the innovatory cream-coloured earthenware 
Queen's Ware after the successful completion of his first commission for 
Queen Charlotte secured in the summer of 1765. Such vessels might have 

been used in Cobham Dairy, although there is no evidence it was ever tiled. 
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Repton also wrote of Cobham Hall: 
 
‘The house is no longer a huge pile standing naked in a vast grazing ground... 
Its walls are enriched with roses and jasmines, its apartments are perfumed 
with odours from flowers surrounding it on every side and the animals which 
enliven the landscape are not admitted as an annoyance, while the views of the 
park are improved by the rich foreground, over which they are seen from the 
terraces in the garden. ... all around is neatness, elegance and comfort.’7 

 

Alongside Wyatt’s work on the house, Repton and his son John Adey Repton also 

carried out significant external alterations in the Tudor style between 1800 and 1820.  

 

It is not known whose idea the Dairy was – Repton’s, Wyatt’s, Lord or Lady Darnley’s 

– but it was no doubt chiefly for the use of Lady Darnley, dairies being safe spaces of 

feminine virtue, while also signalling the domain of an effective estate chatelaine. Its 

design fell to James Wyatt, to act as a home for a Dairymaid, a boundary marker for 

the home park and an eyecatcher in the view south from the mansion. However, it 

was Repton who designed the Cowhouse for three or four cows that stood alongside 

the Dairy and provided its raw materials (see below). 

 
By the 1790s, as well as offering diversion in playing at Dairy making and the display 

of china, such pleasure dairies had become associated with human as well as bovine 

nurture and fecundity. In the late-18th century, the fashion spread for elite women to 

breastfeed their own children rather than sending them to a wet-nurse in the country.  

Milk too was becoming popular for healthful consumption by the elite. In earlier 

centuries, the aristocracy saw milk as just for the sick or convalescent, and otherwise 

as simply the raw material to be converted into cheese, cream and butter.  

Elizabeth’s own childbearing capacity was amply demonstrated in the first decade of 

her marriage, and it is quite possible that the idea of building a pleasure Dairy at 

Cobham Hall also reflected these general shifts in social mores.  So far, however, no 

evidence has emerged of exactly how the Cobham Dairy was used, although the 

Darnley archive is a very large one and contains many family letters, so references 

may one day emerge.  

                                            
 
 
7 Cit. Kent Gardens Trust, Humphry Repton in Kent (2018). 
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The Cobham estate did not escape the trials of the agricultural depression in the post-

Waterloo years, and when the 4th Earl died in 1831, his son inherited debts as well as 

the house and estate. The greatest days of the house were over. While the estate 

continued to be well run up to Second World War, by the 1890s, the Darnleys began 

to sell the 4th Earl’s collection, and this process of divestment continued until the 

1950s.  

 

During the War, the house was requisitioned by the RAF, the 9th Earl of Darnley by 

now living in just one small part of it. By 1943, its declining state was sufficient for it to 

be on the radar of the Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings. In August 1947, 

the 9th Earl wrote explain his difficulties:  

‘mischievous boys in the neighbourhood are always breaking in and damaging 
fences, doors etc. One cannot blame them, as they are only following the 
world’s example of trying to settle problems by force and violence, but all the 
same, it makes one hesitate about spending considerable sums in restoring the 
building, whose only value is decoration.’8 

 

The Earl died in 1955, and the hall was immediately put up for sale, advertised in 

Country Life on 12th Jan 1956 for £30,000. 18 months later it was still on the market. 

Finally, in July 1958, the Ministry of Works bought the house with about 140 acres of 

land, including the gardens, two lodges, and two other cottages, for £29,149. The 

intention was to transfer the house to the National Trust to be opened to the public, 

but first the Ministry undertook extensive renovation works for the then huge sum of 

£105,635 funded by the National Land Fund.9   

 

Sadly, this plan for public access did not come to pass. Instead, Cobham Hall was 

sold to the Weston Educational Trust for use as a school. As reported by The 

Telegraph on 8th February 1962, it became ‘the first new independent public school 

for girls in Britain since 1946’. The first headmistress, Miss D. B. Hancock, was just 30 

                                            
 
 
8 SPAB archives 
9 The National Land Fund was created by the post-war Labour government in 1946 to secure culturally 
significant property for the nation as a memorial to the dead of World War II, as a means through which 
land and property could be accepted on behalf of the nation in lieu of Estate Duty. Initially set up with 
funds of £50 million, this was reduced to £10 million in 1957. 
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years old. The solution turned out to be a sustainable one, and today Cobham Hall is 

one of the leading independent girls’ boarding schools in the country. 
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Description of Cobham Dairy 
 

Although the 4th Earl relocated various buildings of agricultural purposes from the 

service courts around the house to elsewhere on the estate beyond its parkland, this 

pleasure Dairy was a different case. The fashion for such buildings was at its height at 

the end of the 18th century. This Dairy’s proximity to, and visibility from, the main 

house in itself indicates that this was far from being a utilitarian outbuilding for the 

mere processing of Dairy products. Instead, it was built as a recreational garden 

building, a spot for tea parties at which the lady of the house could perhaps display 

her fine china and porcelain. Here too the ladies and daughters of the house could try 

their hand at cheese and butter making, in this instance alongside a professional Dairy 

maid who was lodged in the same building, in a variation on the 18th-century whim for 

male hermits to be encountered in follies (as for example at another Landmark folly, 

Robin Hood’s Hut, built at Halswell Park in Somerset in the 1760s).   

 

As originally built, this model establishment at Cobham also included an icehouse 

immediately to the rear (whose remnants can still be seen in the undergrowth) and a 

byre for a few cows, built in a suitably rustic style with gnarled wooden tree trunks in 

lieu of columns and a thatched roof. While there was probably a larger working cow 

barn elsewhere on the estate – possibly at Lodge Farm - we can imagine a few prized 

or especially pretty cows being selected to service the pleasure Dairy. There was thus 

everything needed for butter and cream and other perishable delicacies that needed 

to be made on a daily basis in these days before refrigeration.  

 

The Dairy was also planned to act as a Gothick eye-catcher in the middle distance 

from the house, defining the southern boundary of the home estate. Its Gothick style is 

in marked contrast to the predominant Classical style of the day as exemplified by the 

3rd Earl’s wishes for his Mausoleum. James Wyatt was ever helpfully eclectic in his 

design styles.  
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By the 1790s, people were beginning to seek comfort in the familiarity of the 

Picturesque at a time when the industrial revolution was gathering pace and the 

French Revolution generating anxiety. The 4th Earl was about to undertake a 

campaign of gothicisation in the main house too, and the Dairy marks the beginning of 

that process. While it seeks to channel the Arcadian idioms of rustic simplicity and 

timeless pastoralism, the Dairy is in fact a highly sophisticated building. With great 

good fortune, a dozen of Wyatt’s designs for the Dairy survive at Yale Centre for 

British Art in Connecticut: plans, elevations, sections and details. These have been 

invaluable during the restoration process (and are freely accessible online). Where 

dated, they show a date of 1794 or 1795, and in them, we can see Wyatt trying out 

different versions of the overall concept for the Earl’s approval. 

 

There are a few other surviving dairies that have more highly finished internal 

decorative treatments than at Cobham,10 but perhaps none that demonstrate more 

clearly the on-site dexterity of the late Georgian craftsmen. Wyatt’s conceit was that 

the Dairy should present as a diminutive chapel, with a tiny bell tower, whose bell was 

perhaps used to summon the cows for milking, or the ladies for tea, or the servants as 

a sign that a select tea party had finished. The building is north-facing and shaded on 

three side by arcades or mini cloisters. These surround a central double height 

chamber with a high vaulted ceiling lit by clerestory windows. We have enclosed the 

south arcade to form today’s kitchen, although what might have been an east arcade 

was always enclosed, in order to provide a bedroom and scullery for the Dairymaid.  

  

                                            
 
 
10A fine example is Landmark’s Dairy at Endsleigh (c.1814), designed by Jeffry Wyatville for Georgina, 
Duchess of Bedford together with Pond Cottage, here providing more substantial accommodation and 
stabling for six cows in a rustic byre alongside. The Endsleigh Dairy walls are still covered with glazed 
tiles with an ivy motif very similar to Wedgwood’s Queen’s Ware design; the stained glass survives in 
the leaded windows, and so too the original central feature and marble shelf running round the walls. 
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The varied guises of 18th-century dairies (and Dairymaids). 
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This being a room that needed at least some heat (in contrast to the rest of the 

building), the bedroom was placed next to the tiny scullery or scalding room which had 

a little hearth with a copper, perhaps used to help the cream rise as well as for boiling 

water to disinfect the Dairy vessels and the Dairymaid’s own domestic needs.  

 

An early pattern book, The Country Gentleman's Architect (1807) describes the 

functioning of a working dairy in some detail. While Cobham Dairy is really a pleasure 

and working dairy combined into one, and did not have the ventilation louvres or 

steam heating recommended by the author, other aspects of his instructions do help 

us imagine how Cobham Dairy might have been used: 

‘The Scalding Room….to be on the south side of the Dairy...the sides and 
ceiling of the Dairy should be carefully plastered , filling up every crack; the 
floor may be paved with stone or with ten-inch tiles, neatly jointed, and having a 
proper slope with a quick current… 
 
‘The Churning-Room requires a thorough draft of air in summer, but in winter 
the churning may be done in the scalding-room for the sake of warmth. The 
side and ceiling of this room should be carefully plastered…The floor should be 
paved with stone or ten-inch tiles. 
 
‘The Scalding Room should be on the south side of the Dairy, and should have 
an outer door, by which the coolers may be carried out for the purpose of being 
set in the sun as soon as scalded, which dries and sweetens them; but in the 
case of wet or cold weather, a fire must be lighted to dry them before they can 
be returned to the Dairy. In this room is a large copper, nearly over which is 
placed a ventilator, that steam may not hover about, but instantly ascend… 
 
‘A pump to furnish water for filling the copper and washing the Dairy, must be 
fixed as convenient, and water must be conveyed by pipes to the churning-
room. 
 
‘The Store-Room is on a level with the Dairy, if used for butter; if for cheese it 
should be sunk sufficiently low to admit a cheese room over it.  
The lower room should be paved, and the walls and ceilings plastered; it should 
have no window, and the door should be made to fit close.  
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When the cheese has lain in the upper room, and heated, in due season, it 
should be brought down and laid on the floor of the lower room to mellow.’11 

 
In the Cobham example, the hearth’s flue was disguised by the bell tower. A brick-

vaulted space was also discovered beneath the Dairymaid’s bedroom floor during the 

restoration works, perhaps another concession to her comfort in not laying the floor 

directly onto cold beaten earth as happened elsewhere in the building. All four corners 

of the building were capped by square pyramidal roofs with iron finials, and the 

juncture between roof slopes and arcades was unified by a wooden castellated 

parapet. 

 

The building is constructed out of rough brickwork on a Portland stone plinth, but was 

meant by Wyatt to present a much more refined appearance: the external brickwork 

was covered by slate cladding, painted to imitate finely dressed stone. Such slate 

cladding was one of the Georgian period’s many innovations in building material and 

techniques, and short-lived like so many of them (and is described in more detail 

below). The slate cladding also helped keep the building cool, the paint reflecting back 

the heat of any sunlight. The evidence for both sanded paint and slate cladding at 

Cobham Dairy were extremely rare survivals. 

 

As originally built, the Dairy’s roof apparently employed what was known as patented 

tiling, in which the slates were butt-jointed at the sides rather than the usual 

overlapping courses side and bottom, the joints covered in additional slate slips. This 

meant less slate was needed to cover the roof, and was another short-lived innovation 

(also described in more detail below). The technique can clearly be seen in the little 

sketch of the Dairy dating from the 1830s. 

 

Inside, the design followed the form recommended for dairies by the building manuals 

of the day for a high vaulted ceiling, and small or few windows and doors to prevent 

over heating from sunlight or contamination by dust. Wyatt’s ecclesiastical theme was 

of course perfectly suited to such constraints, and the inclusion of upper clerestory 

                                            
 
 
11 Lugar, Robert. 1807. The country gentleman's architect; containing a variety of designs for farm 
houses and farm yards, pp. 14-15. 
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windows into the design admits light without direct sunlight, further filtered by the use 

of coloured glass slips around the edges. A castellated string course ran around the 

chamber at high level, mirroring that of the external parapet. The pretence of 

stonework was continued inside the central chamber and the arcades, but this time by 

calling on the skills of the stuccadori or master plasterers. The arcades and the 

interior, walls as well as ceilings, were entirely plastered out, using wooden formers as 

the base for the groin-vaulted ceilings whose ribs sprang from corbels disguised as 

clusters of oak leaves and met in similarly ornate ceiling bosses.  

 

Once complete, the plasterwork on the walls was lined out and painted in imitation of 

blocks of stone, as was the joinery of window and door frames to complete the illusion 

of a Gothic building completely made of stone. The lower parts of the walls  in such 

pleasure dairies (and sometimes to full height) were typically covered in glazed tiles 

for ease of cleaning, hygiene being essential in a Dairy both in terms of food 

production but also to retain the illusion of it as a polite space suitable for feminine 

discourse. We found no surviving evidence of such tiling in this Cobham example. 

 

It seems the floor of the central chamber was originally laid in brick but we found it laid 

in pale stone lozenges interlaced with a lattice of narrower tiles in a contrasting dark 

red sandstone. A plinth ran around the edge of the room, above which was set on cast 

iron legs a shelf of Carrara marble for settling pans, jugs and other vessels needed for 

Dairy making. This was fixed directly into the wall. The three alcoves on each side 

perhaps doubled as further storage or display space. In the centre of the room there 

was evidence of the base of a pan stand, which were usually octagonal.  
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A drain beneath the floor allowed the water to drain away. It must almost have been 

like a font: while this also played to the artifice of chapel-as-Dairy, it was a common 

feature in such dairies, often holding a trough of cold water and ice from an estate ice 

house when available, as a cooling stand.  At Endsleigh (where a dairy is an ancillary 

building to Landmark’s Pond Cottage), the central table is similarly set above a drain, 

even if there the perimeter wall shelves are functional shallow slate sinks rather than a 

marble shelf.  

 

The original water supply is an unsolved question at the Cobham Dairy. Best practice 

unsurprisingly recommended a plentiful water supply for a Dairy, whether for pleasure 

or function. Endsleigh Dairy is well provided for by the natural streams that flow 

through the renowned Picturesque landscape there, also designed by Repton. 

However, a water source for Cobham Dairy is no longer readily apparent: we found no 

traces of a well. It is known that there was a pond or pool in the declivity in the 

grounds to the northwest that later became a swimming pool. This was presumably 

fed by a spring that once rose and flowed close to the Dairy. 
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Wyatt’s working drawings allow us to see the development of the design through 
his discussions with his clients. Here we see the bellcote (though we found no 
evidence of the cross) and a cross section through the centre of the building.  

Yale Center for British Art 
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Evidence for the Building of Cobham Dairy 

 

Wyatt’s designs  

Most of the Darnley Papers are now at Medway Archive Centre near Rochester, but a 

quantity of Wyatt’s designs for the estate are at the Yale Center for British Art, and 

their digitisation proved a boon as we researched the building. The Dairy is perhaps 

the best documented building at Cobham: twelve of these drawings relate to it, the 

earliest of them dated 1794, suggesting that Wyatt received the commission from Lord 

Darnley in that year. Nine others are dated August 1795.  

 

Wyatt’s plans are explicit about the uses of the various spaces in the Dairy, although 

the Dairy underwent a few changes from these drawn designs in its construction. The 

biggest relates to the south elevation (today’s kitchen side), which Wyatt proposed as 

a semi-circular, double height projection over a flight of stairs leading down to a lower 

chamber, presumably a cold-store or ice-house. This was a feature shared by other 

dairies: for example, Kenwood Dairy (1794-6, designed by George Saunders) has 

such a chamber. The idea was not acted upon in construction: there is (perhaps 

already was) a larger domed ice-house built of brick into the terrace of north terrace 

drive. Lord Darnley instead instructed a much simpler cold store immediately to the 

south of the Dairy. A flint-faced recess behind the Dairy is all that is left of this today.  

 

The earliest documentary evidence for the built Dairy is also ambiguous as to the roof 

form. The well-finished little sketch, owned by the current Lord Darnley, is thought to 

date from c1830 and shows a hipped roof running along the length of the east and 

west ranges, instead of the pyramidal ‘corner roofs’ shown on Wyatt’s drawings and 

early photographs. This is puzzling: while it can be attributed to artistic licence, the 

anonymous sketcher depicts patented roofing very accurately. Perhaps the sketcher 

simply did not have an architectural eye. Similarly, it is unclear whether the building 

ever had the iron cross finials sketched by Wyatt, though these may have disappeared 

in the 1980s work. 
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Finally, it is hard to make out the treatment of the little bell-cote, for which Wyatt drew 

one option for castellated trim with a cross. The restoration reflects the physical 

evidence as we found it in the 21st century, after the shell repairs carried out by the 

Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings in the 1980s. 

 

Carpenters & bricklayers 

Lord Darnley retained an experienced team of carpenters and builders to build and 

maintain his estate buildings, bringing in specialist craftsmen only where needed. He 

also benefitted from a meticulous agent in these years, Mr. W. Stevenson (perhaps a 

personal friend, since he joins the estate soon after the 4th Earl achieved his 

majority). Stevenson’s annual accounts are recorded in a beautiful copperplate hand 

in marbled hard-backed ledgers. These records allow the chronology of construction 

of the Dairy to be followed, as well as the names of some of those who worked on the 

Dairy.  The Dairy was built at a time of considerable activity on the estate, as its 

service buildings were reorganised and Lodge Farm developed. Some of the 

brickwork for which John Patteson was paid from June 1795 to February 1798 seems 

likely to relate to work on the Dairy.12 On 23rd September  1796 £22 11s 8d is paid to 

‘John Till and other carpenters for setting up and framing a round Stack Frame at the 

Lodge Farm, working at the new Dairy and making Doors Windows Shutters &c for the 

new Office’ over the previous two months. A further £24 4s 8d follows to the same 

team in November ‘for Work done at the new Dairy, the new Office &c.’13 In 1797, 

thirty nine oak saplings were used for a new fence between ‘the Stable Yard Gate and 

the New Dairy. At the end of December 1798 Charles Wyatt (Wyatt’s brother-in-law 

and cousin) received the large amount of £55 12s 0d for ‘Tinned Copper had in 1796 

for covering the New Dairy.’14  

  

                                            
 
 
12 Medway Archives U565/417a, 49. 
13 U565/415a, 45.. 
14 U565/A17a, 49. 
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This anonymous drawing, though to date to c.1830, is the earliest evidence for 
the Dairy as built. Note the patented slate roof treatment. However, the artist 

has not drawn the cloister roofs accurately, showing continuous hipped roofs, 
rather than the pyramidal corner roofs actually built. 

Private Collection 
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Payments to the craftsmen are typically paid in arrears over the past quarter or even 

longer, as in this case, raising the question of their cashflow in the interim.  John 

Patteson the carpenter did not receive payment until 1st November 1798 ‘for 

Bricklayers…for 18¾ of Lime to the new Dairy in 1795 & 1796 at 9s a Load’.15 

 

This payment for copper roofing, which relates to the flat roofs of the cloisters, neatly 

marks the probable completion of the external envelope. There are no explicit 

references relating to payment of slaters who executed the patented roof or the slate 

cladding: these tasks were probably beyond the capabilities of the estate’s in-house 

team. At Soho House, Samuel Wyatt sent William Jarrard from London to supervise 

the slate casing. Similarly, estate accounts for work done for Thomas Coke at 

Holkham in the 1780s show that both slaters and Bernasconi were  employed and 

paid direct by Samuel, the likely arrangement at Cobham. 

 

On 1st June 1798, John Till the Carpenter was paid for work since April for ‘setting up 

a Slab Fence between Badgerbury Shaw [?] & the Hop Ground adjoining & at Work 

done at the new Cow House near the Dairy &c’ from 7th April to this day last £27 12s 

1½d. This perhaps relates to making the framing for the vaulted ceilings. 16 On 19th 

November 1798 Robert Hills was paid ‘for the Carriage of 3 Loads of Stones from 

Gravesend in May last for paving the new Dairy at 12/6d a Load.’17 

  

                                            
 
 
15 U565/A17a, 45. 
16 U565/A17a, 48 
17 U565/A17a, 69. 
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snow, or admit any water penetrating from the strongest rain.’  

  

Surviving example of patented roof slating on the Albany Lodges,  

Burlington Gardens, Piccadilly (1770s). Below: Charles Rawlinson’s 1772 Patent. 
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Roofing  

The Dairy’s original roof covering, as apparent in the 1830 sketch, was what was 

known as patented tiling. In September 1772 Charles Rawlinson of Lostwithiel in 

Cornwall was granted a patent for ‘a method of covering any kind or form of building 

with slate…that …cannot be rifled by wind, or hurt by frost, hail or This involved 

roofing with large slates that simply butted up against each other, bedded onto a putty 

and then nailed in place. The perpendicular joints were covered with slate slips.  The 

latter often failed, and not surprisingly very few examples survive. One rare survival to 

see are two little lodges at the back of The Albany on Burlington Gardens, behind the 

Royal Academy.  At the Dairy, any such application of the technique was later 

superseded, and we have only the little sketch 1830 as evidence that it once existed. 

 

Slate cladding 

James Wyatt was intent upon using the Dairy to pursue one of the many building 

innovations of the 18th century. It was a time of great building, as the population 

expanded and London re-built itself after the Great Fire, and innovation thrived. The 

Wyatt dynasty was a Staffordshire family; James was the youngest and most brilliant 

of five brothers, all active in the building trade to some degree. Slate was one of their 

favourite building materials, since another brother, Benjamin, was the Chief Agent for 

Lord Penryhn, whose estates at the northwest corner of Wales contained the 

enormous slate deposits that would transform the nation’s roofs in the railway age. 

Quarried since at least the 16th century, from the 1770s Lord Penrhyn made a 

determined effort to exploit these resources, turning the mountainsides into dreamlike 

landscapes, gallery rising upon gallery. All the Wyatts were ever keen to promote 

each other’s activities. Cobham Dairy possibly represents an initial prototype for the 

technique before it was used on bigger projects, although Samuel was more 

enthusiastic than James in using it on subsequent projects. 
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  Samuel Wyatt used 
mathematical tiling to 
dress Belmont, Kent  
(1769), another 
imitative 18th-century 
technique to dress 
rough brickwork. 
Here, pale terracotta 
tiles nailed to wooden 
battens are used to 
mimic much finer 
faced, tightly jointed 
brickwork and could 
be executed by less 
skilled craftsmen. 
 
Peregrine Bryant Architects. 
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At the Dairy, early photos show the brick core covered in a single layer of slate 

painted to look like finely dressed stone. There were functional as well as aesthetic 

advantages to the technique: as well as providing a weather shield against frost and 

rain, slate cladding also kept the Dairy cool. The original slates on the Dairy were 

about 15mm thick, and sawn rather than riven. They were then passed through a 

dressing machine, to ensure an absolutely flat finish. 

 

At one level, this is typical 18th-century trickery. Georgian building manuals are full of 

such wheezes and ingenuity: how to use fewer bricks, or how to make one material 

look like another, more expensive one. So-called mathematical tiling was another, in 

which fired tiles were carefully hung from battens over rougher brickwork to imitate 

very finely jointed brickwork. A famous survival of mathematical tiling is at Belmont 

near Faversham, on whose estate stands Prospect Tower, another Landmark with 

cricketing connections. This Belmont was built in the early 1790s by Samuel Wyatt. 

The tiles were fixed to wooden battens with hefty wrought iron nails. Over time the 

nails rust and the battens tend to rot. Many examples of mathematical tiling survive, 

especially in the southeast, but it was not a perfect solution. 

 

By contrast, in 1969, even though the Dairy had had little or no maintenance since the 

very early 20th century, its slate cladding seemed to be holding up pretty well. There 

are no signs of the bowing due to nail sickness or batten failure that often happened 

with mathematical tile cladding. In the event, it wasn’t so much damp and decay that 

almost did for the Dairy and its cladding, it was vandalism. 

 

One other shining example of slate cladding survives, at Soho House, Handsworth, 

Birmingham. This was originally the home of the industrialist Matthew Boulton. This 

was where the Lunar Society used to meet by the full moon, to light their journeys 

home after dinner and scientific discussions. Both Samuel Wyatt and James Wyatt 

worked on the house for Boulton in the 1790s.  
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Soho House, Handsworth, Birmingham. Industrialist Matthew Boulton’s 
former house, both James and Samuel Wyatt worked on adaptations here. 

This south elevation is still entirely faced in original slate cladding 

identical to that used at Cobham Dairy. 
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This design of this principal front is attributed to James Wyatt, although his 

involvement was not a success. The cement initially chosen for the façade failed, and 

in 1798 Boulton brought in Samuel Wyatt to complete the work, who elected to use 

slate cladding on the house. Soho House has been well-maintained and is still faced 

with painted slate in impeccable condition. Unless scrutinised very closely, it is 

impossible to tell that it isn’t stone, or render lined out to look like ashlar. As at 

Cobham, slate slips had been used rather than wooden battens, and the slates then 

bedded in an oil mastic to arrive at a smooth external finish.  

 

There was evidence in the Boulton archive of further small adjustments and 

improvements to the technique.  Remarkably, Samuel Wyatt used slate cladding to 

cover the whole of Shugborough Hall in Staffordshire for Thomas Anson in the 1790s. 

Even the ten giant Doric columns that support its portico are simple tree trunks clad in 

slate, using carefully dressed slate slips. Samuel Wyatt’s builder and clerk of works, 

William Hollins, went to inspect the finished work in July 1798 and wrote to Boulton 

with some sensible observations.  

‘When I was at Esquire Ansons I took perticuler notice of the slating, which 
looks very well, but there are blemishes in it, which may be prevented in yours, 
that is in topping the Nail holes. I observe the general mode is to fill the holes 
with Putty, which not only takes a considerable time in drying, but sinks from 
the surface, so that they may be seen when painted and sanded.’ 

 

Hollins’s painstaking solution was to recommend that small slate plugs be made to 

exactly the same size as the fixing holes bored into each slate, to be fixed with stiff 

white lead and oil. On the surviving evidence, this method worked extremely well at 

Soho House, but the Dairy was already built by 1798 and here, James Wyatt used the 

original method of putty to fill the fixing holes. 

 

Samuel Wyatt also built a slate-clad Poultry House for Lady Penrhyn at Winnington in 

Cheshire (c. 1782-5, now demolished). In 1800, Benjamin Wyatt built a slate-clad 

dairy at Penisarnant on the Penrhyn Estate in N Wales. This survives today in 

residential use. 
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Examples of Francis 
Bernasconi’s work 
for Wyatt in Cobham 
Hall (entrance 
lobby). Note too the 
glass screen with 
coloured slips and 

painted bearings. 
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Paint finishes  

Specialist paint analysis at the Dairy revealed that, after a primer of lead white oil 

paint, two coats of oil paint lightly coloured with ochre mixed with sand were applied. 

The first coat had very fine sand mixed into the paint. The second coat held slightly 

coarser sand that seemed to have been dredged or blown onto the wet paint, since 

particles protruded. Exactly the same treatment had been used at Soho House and 

Shugborough. At the Dairy as at the other two sites, this sanded finish was applied 

everywhere externally, even across timber window frames, and even on a surviving 

internal doorcase. Everything was intended to read as stone. 

 

Plasterwork  

Payments made between 1800 and 1809 totalling £1,556 for work at Cobham Hall to 

one Francis Bernasconi (1762-1841) raise an exciting and very plausible association 

with the plastering at the Dairy and one of the most sought after stuccadori of the day. 

Gothic vaulting was something of a lost craft skill in the mid-18th century, when the 

fashion for the earlier, freer Rococo had phased into the more compartmented and 

formalised designs popularised by the Adam brothers. Francis Bernasconi is the 

presumed son or relation of stuccadori  Bernato Bernasconi (fl.1770-1820).18 Italians 

had long been acknowledged as the best master plasterers, travelling the country to 

work on the great building projects of the day. The return to vaulting in the revival 

Gothic idiom required a greater discipline in plastering as well as in the laying out of 

the vaulting (which must equally have challenged the estate carpenters). Bernato 

Bernasconi, who settled in Buckinghamshire, was employed by James Wyatt to work 

on several such ceilings in cathedrals, where accurate casts of medieval bosses were 

taken and reproduced. Bernato also worked for James in Oxford: in New College 

Chapel (1788-94), Magdalen College Chapel (1791-2) and the Library at Balliol 

College (1794, this last being only one of these examples not later swept away by the 

zeal of the Victorian ecclesiologists).19 

                                            
 
 
18 See A Biographical Dictionary of Sculptors in Britain, 1660-1851, online resource: http://liberty.henry-
moore.org/henrymoore/sculptor/browserecord.php?-action=browse&-recid=199    
19 John Frew, ‘Gothic in Transition’, The Burlington Magazine, Vol. 126, No. 980 (Nov. 1984). 

http://liberty.henry-moore.org/henrymoore/sculptor/browserecord.php?-action=browse&-recid=199
http://liberty.henry-moore.org/henrymoore/sculptor/browserecord.php?-action=browse&-recid=199
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The ceilings in the dining room and entrance lobby of the main house that Wyatt 

designed for the Earl in these years are very similar in their vaulting to that of the 

Dairy, and share the same oak leaf bosses. Similar bosses similarly feature in the 

Balliol Library ceiling, which may have been reflected a family, or company, style.  All 

in all, then, it seems very likely that Francis Bernasconi was also responsible for the 

decorative plastering at the Dairy. The payment to him in 1800 in the Cobham Hall 

accounts is the first time he surfaces in his own right, at the relatively mature age of 

38.  

In his own career, Francis specialised as much in scagliola work as decorative 

plasterwork, and he worked at the Royal Palaces and many of the cathedrals and 

great houses in London and across the country.20 Francis Bernasconi’s involvement at 

the Dairy further emphasises that this was conceived as a building of considerable 

distinction, to be decorated to the same standard as the Hall. The apparently rather 

late payment to Bernasconi (in arrears, as was usual) also fits with a last payment in 

Stevenson’s accounts, on 12th April 1800 for ‘sundry payments to Stone Masons & 

Bricklayers at the Dairy, the Lodge at Brewer’s gate, the House at the Warren Gate &c 

147:19:8 ½.’21  

  

                                            
 
 
20 Scagliola is imitation marble or other stone, made of plaster mixed with glue and dyes, which is then 
painted to imitate marble or other semi-precious stone and polished. 
21 U565/A19a, 48. 
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Window glass 

Since the heat of direct sunlight was to be avoided, the windows in pleasure dairies 

were typically closely leaded and often coloured, and acid-etched or opaque. The 

Cobham example was no exception. We had oral evidence of memories of red, blue 

and yellow glass surviving in the windows at the Dairy in the mid-20th century, and 

this tallied well with Wyatt’s treatment of the glass in the windows and screen of his 

entrance lobby in the Hall, under construction at the same time as the Dairy. The 

screen in the Hall also holds an elaborate, painted representation of the 4th Earl’s 

armorial bearings.   

From a chance entry in Mr Stevenson’s accounts for 1798, we also learn that that 

Dairy was given a similar treatment: the Housekeeper Isabella Rich was reimbursed 

£1 1s 18d ‘for boarding Mr Warren when painting the Coats of Arms &c on the 

Windows at the new Dairy.’22 

A small later alteration is recorded in mid-1812 for ‘Wire Work for the Dairy Windows.’ 

Some of this was still in situ in the mid-20th century, being visible in a photograph 

taken in 1969.23 

The Dairy Maid 

Mr Stevenson’s accounts of payments to employees at the Hall in these years also 

yield two further evocative snippets – the names of the first dairymaids. Only one 

name is recorded in a given year, suggesting that these women were indeed the 

resident dairymaid at The Dairy (the detailed accounts for Lodge Farm include cows 

and calves, but no dairy produce or dairymaids, suggesting that this was primarily a 

beef herd).   

  

                                            
 
 
22 U565/17a, 66. 
23 Laurie, 179 cit. Bowdler (2002). 
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W. Stevenson’s 
Accounts for 
1796. Payments 
to ‘Artificers’ 
include the first 
entry on this 
extract page, to 
‘John Till and 
other Carpenters’ 
for ‘working at 
the new Dairy.’ 
Medway Archives 
U565/A15a 
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In 1796, Sarah Hemmings appears as Dairy Maid. She is paid ‘A Year’s wages’ of £8 

plus board wages each quarter for £11 5s 0d, to a total of £19 5s 0d. (This is just a bit 

more than the kitchen maid Jane Davis at £15 14s 6d and laundry maids Ann Crocker 

at £17 5s 2d and Betty Box at £14 14s 0d, and a lot less than Elizabeth Hutchins the 

Housekeeper at £51 10s 0d. Sarah earned about the same as Luke Graham, the 

footman, one of several servants for whom Lord Darnley paid tax each year in order to 

be permitted to powder his wig.)24  

Sarah is still there in 1798, but by now her year’s wages and board wages have risen 

to £24, perhaps reflecting a ‘promotion’ to residency at the Dairy – where additional 

heating and sustenance would have been required beyond the umbrella provision in 

the Hall.25 However, by 1800 Sarah Heming [sic] has apparently been demoted to 

become a House Maid, paid just £16 2s 0d.26 Ann Parsons has replaced Sarah as 

Dairy Maid, paid £12 guineas Wages plus £12 15s 0d board wages, to a total of £25 

7s 0d.  

The Dairy did make money for the estate too. In 1827, for example, milk and butter 

contributed nearly £27 for the year, thus neatly covering the cost of the dairy maid’s 

wages and board.27 

So life at the Dairy unrolled, with the cows lowing in the nearby Cowhouse, and the 

daily routine of morning and evening milking, with the churning of butter, making of 

cheese and skimming of cream setting the rhythm in between, attended by ever-

scrupulous attention to hygiene within the cool walls. Every so often, when the family 

were in residence at the Hall, the dairy maid’s daily round was no doubt enlivened with 

tea parties and ‘help’ from the Darnley offspring. 

  

                                            
 
 
24 U565/A15a, 59. 
25 U565/A17a, 59. 
26 U565/A19a, 60, 59. 
27 Bowdler, 86. 
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 Mr Stevenson’s Accounts for 1796: Servants’ Wages. Sarah 

Hemmings the Dairy Maid’s entry is second from bottom. 
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Most frustratingly, no evidence has yet come to light for contents or specific activities 

in the Dairy. Its contents were not itemised in the inventory drawn up after the death of 

the 4th Earl in 1841, so we can only look to other known examples of pleasure dairies 

to inform this. 
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Mr W. Ansell’s condition report on the Dairy in March 1879.  ‘The 
floor is very uneven, being worn away in several places….’ 

Medway Archives U565/A391 
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Later history of the Dairy 
 

We now jump to 1879 and the tenure of the 8th  Earl, Ivo Frances Walter Bligh, second 

son of the 6th Earl and another fine cricketer.  There is a sense that the estate was by 

now perhaps a little neglected. This Lord Darley employed a Mr. W. Ansell as his 

estate surveyor, an experienced man who left a series of detailed and well-informed 

condition surveys and repair specifications in his Estate Surveyor’s Book. 

 

On March 10th, 1879, Ansell wrote a report ‘on the state of the Dairy at Cobham Hall.‘ 

‘the floor is very uneven, being worn away in several places, and therefore the 
water cannot drain away properly. The present floor is formed with ordinary 
paving bricks, and it is almost impossible to form a floor perfectly even with 
bricks, which is necessary in a Dairy, the present floor requires taking up, and a 
bed of concrete formed, and repared [sic] with white paving tiles about 1ft each 
tile. 
 
The top of the pan stand is formed with stone, and is very rough and uneven for 
that purpose, a slate top would be more suitable as it is easily and quickly 
cleaned, and would not absorb the moisture. 
 
The walls and ceiling require cleaning and white washing, as they are getting 
dirty, and the drain does not appear to be in good working order and requires 
attention.’28 

 

Whether the brick floor has worn away from repeated foot passage or vigorous 

scrubbing is unclear, but the wear does suggest that the Dairy had seen good use 

over the past 80 years. This report is also interesting because it seems the loads of 

stone brought from Medway in 1798 were not after all used to pave the Dairy floor, 

and that the beautiful banded lozenge stone floor that we found, albeit badly 

dilapidated, dated from the late-19th- rather than the late-18th century.  

  

                                            
 
 
28 U565/A391 
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Cobham Dairy’s north elevation in the 1960s (top) and the north 

elevation before the 1980s consolidation. 
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The description of the central pan stand is also the only evidence we have for this 

feature, long since lost. In this case, Ansell makes no further repair specification, and 

nor does he sign off the work done at the Dairy (as often recorded for other works in 

the volume), so it appears nothing was done. 

 

Ansell’s next report ‘upon the Old Dairy in the Pleasure Gardens at Cobham Hall’ 

comes on November 21st, 1884. It suggests that decay was now setting in seriously in 

the apparently disused building: 

‘The south [?] side of the Old Dairy is getting into a very dilapidated state, the 
brickwork has given way in several places, and the roof timbers [are very rotten 
which support – crossed out] and the woodwork which support the ornamental 
plastering is very rotten, and has caused the plastering to give way in several 
places. The south side of the building being in a very bad state requires special 
repairs, and the structure generally requires repairs to the roof and doors etc.’29 

 

It seems the Dairy fell into complete disuse around 1900. Maintenance was no longer 

carried out (if indeed it was in the 1880s). The next full survey was undertaken by the 

Ministry of Works in 1959 (as the government department responsible for works to 

public buildings and eventual precursor to English Heritage). This described the 

building as past repair.30 The building was therefore abandoned by the time the school 

arrived in 1962, and they understandably had other priorities. 

 

The next Ministry of Works report, on the garden buildings in June 1964, found the 

Dairy was ‘the biggest problem as it is nearest to a ruin. Few people would have 

considered taking it on in its present condition but Commander White [the school’s 

estate manager] has already cleaned it up and begin [sic] putting a new roof on it.’ 

The report also stated that the castellated parapet was of solid wood, and the roofs 

slate with zinc flats.  

  

                                            
 
 
29 U565/A391 
30 PRO, WORK 14/2474, minute of 12 January 1959, cit. Bowdler. 
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Cobham Dairy in 1983, stripped back ready for re-roofing and repair of its shell. 
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The walls were sodden and full of fungus; the glazing had all gone. The design of the 

building was praised and its restoration was recommended but in a manner that 

shows how far conservation has come since: the walls were to be allowed to dry out, 

but the missing cladding slates were to be rendered over; the floor re-laid on a damp 

proof course, and the roofs entirely replaced. The internal plasterwork would have to 

be sacrificed for the repairs to be carried out. It was estimated that the consolidation 

would cost £2,000, and the restoration £4,000.31  

 

Once again, it nothing substantive was done. Then in 1983, architect John Sell 

organised a working party from the Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings to 

clear the ivy that was threatening to overwhelm the building. Architectural practice Sell 

Wade Postin took up the building’s cause and with grants from English Heritage, the 

Monument Trust and Kent County Council, they succeeded in re-roofing the building, 

and stripping and storing the surviving slate cladding from all but the sheltered west 

gable where it remained intact. The window frames were removed for storage and 

new ones put in, before the windows were boarded up, with a dashing cut-out in each 

representing Kent’s white horse, for ventilation.  

 

The Dairy’s envelope was now wind and weatherproof, and the careful conservationist 

approach meant that what did survive of the decaying vaulted ceilings was left in situ, 

against the day when a long term future might be determined for the building. 

Landmark looked at the building in 1999, and also the Darnley Mausoleum, but at that 

stage the school governors were very wary about having an outside presence within 

the school grounds and discussions came to nothing. Discussions re-opened in 2012, 

culminating in the completion of Landmark’s restoration in autumn 2019. 

  

                                            
 
 
31 PRO, WORK 14/2751. 
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George Repton’s record drawings of the Cobham Cowhouse, the floorplan 
giving details of the materials used. Note the gates to the Dairy and the hay 
rick. The example must have been admired for Repton to have returned to 

make such careful records as he made a name for himself as the designer of 
picturesque estate buildings. 

(Pavilion Notebook, 74 & 75) 
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The Cowhouse 
 
It seems very likely that Humphry Repton’s crucial role in the placing and form of the 

estate buildings extended as far as designing an otherwise very modest structure 

associated with the Dairy, the Cowhouse. A careful record of it survives, drawn by 

Repton’s son George (1786-1858) who trained with architect John Nash and became 

the latter’s chief assistant. Nash promoted the young George Repton as a specialist in 

cottages and estate buildings, and George created an album of careful pen and ink 

drawings known as his Pavilion Notebook, done on paper watermarked ‘1798.’ Among 

these drawings are plan, elevation and section of the Cowhouse that allow a detailed 

picture of it to be built up. 

 

This was built in 1798 just south-east of the Dairy, straddling the fence between the 

pleasure grounds and the surrounding deer park. This little milking parlour allowed up 

to nine choice cattle to be milked, and perhaps stalled, conveniently close to the Dairy, 

minimising the distance the Dairymaid had to carry her heavy milk pails. The 

improving 4th Earl had a keen eye for livestock and individual breeds are listed in the 

Accounts Books; more romantically, keeping cows so near the main house contributed 

to the fashionable pastoral idiom in the home park. 

 

The Cowhouse had three bays. Four tree trunks supported an open colonnade, and at 

each end there was a shelter made of stave walls, with projecting gable ends that 

overlooked the deer park through suitably arched windows. The whole was thatched, 

and about 7.6 metres long, by 5.6 metres deep. The rough trunks that faced it would 

have merged with the paling that ran around the southern boundary of the pleasure 

garden, all contributing to the ancient air of the scene. 
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A pebble-paved feeding passage ran along the north side of the shed, that allowed 

the Dairymaid to hoist hay into a brick feeding trough running along the middle. 

Fodder came from a hay rick, placed north-west of the Cowhouse, so on the Hall side 

(the Cowhouse faced south). The Cowhouse’s floor was made of clinkers, with a 

cement-lined gutter to drain the slurry along its length. This careful attention to the 

details of best (and indeed to long held, traditional) practice emphasises that for all 

their picturesque qualities, the Dairy and Cowhouse as an ensemble were model 

structures, of the kind that became increasingly fashionable through the patterns 

books of the 19th century. 

 

There are several references to the building of the Cowhouse in the estate accounts. 

In 1798, sixty-eight oaks were felled for alterations to Cobham Hall and ‘for building a 

new Cow House’.32 Between April and June the same year, John Till the Carpenter 

was working at ‘at the new Cow House near the Dairy’.33 In November, Robert Hills 

was paid £12 11s 8d for ‘968 Bolts of Re[e]d’ for thatching the new Cow House’. He 

was also paid for the actual thatching work, at 6s per square, to cover the roof of 

some fifteen square metres, with an additional sum for spun yarn and an allowance for 

beer.34 

 

A photo of 1911 shows the byre transformed into a summerhouse, the pointed 

windows boarded up and doors cut into the stave walls beneath.35 In the early 1960s, 

the western shelter and colonnade were still there, but only some of the eastern 

shelter. By 1984, only the south-eastern corner remained, and today, nothing is left of 

the Cowhouse, although the floor and foundations perhaps lie below the surface. 

  

                                            
 
 
32 U565/A17a, 25. 
33 U565/A17a, 48. 
34 U565/A17a, 49. 
35 The Country Home, May 1911, 65. 
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The Cowhouse in the 1960s (above) 
and all that was left in 1992. Nothing 
remains today. 
(Pavilion Notebook, figs 99 & 100) 
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The Darnley, or Cobham, Mausoleum 

 

Earls of Darnley were traditionally buried in Westminster Abbey, but by the late 18th 

century, their vault was full. When the 3rd Earl died in 1781, he left quite specific 

instructions in his will for a family mausoleum. Perhaps inspired by the mausoleum of 

Cestius that he saw on the Grand Tour, he stipulated that a square stone building with 

a ‘prominent pyramid’ and a dry moat be built on elevated ground within the estate. In 

1783, James Wyatt, already a popular and prolific architect, was commissioned to fulfil 

this brief. The instruction must have come at least nominally from the widowed Lady 

Darnley since the 4th Earl had yet to enter his majority and was still at Eton. Wyatt’s 

design was exhibited at the Royal Academy in 1783.  

 

This monumental building lies in woodland a mile or so to the southeast of the Dairy. 

Constructed of Portland stone, it is indeed square, adorned by large fluted columns of 

the Roman Doric order on which are set elevated tomb chests at each corner. The 

whole is surmounted by a huge pyramid. A flight of steps leads to the entrance of a 

circular chapel inside the mausoleum, which has a coffered dome of plasterwork and 

columns of red Brocatello marble from Spain. The space was adorned with symbols of 

death – sarcophagi and upside-down torches - and the altar has the Lord’s Prayer and 

the Creed. There was a black Purbeck ‘marble’ table (in fact a hard limestone that can 

be highly polished, much prized as a decorative stone). The basement was given over 

for interment, with 32 coffin shelves, or loculi. Eight of these are small, perhaps 

intended for children. 

 

Wyatt had a heavy workload at the time (and was always a much better designer than 

he was a project manager), so in the event, the mausoleum’s construction was 

overseen by George Dance the Younger. Wyatt’s original design underwent slight 

modifications in the process. Completed in 1786, the mausoleum cost £9,000 (the 

equivalent of over £1 million today).  
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The Darnley Mausoleum, 
designed by James Wyatt (top) 
for the 3rd Earl but only 
completed after the Earl’s death 
and never used for its intended 
purpose.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The building was subject to 
great damage by vandals and 
fire (left). The subject of a multi-
million pound restoration in the 
2000’s by the Cobham 
Ashenbank Management 
Scheme, today the building is in 

the care of the National Trust. 
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However, the mausoleum was never consecrated or used. The Darnleys fell out with 

the Bishop of Rochester; the 3rd Earl had treated the Cobham vicar poorly and the 

Bishop may not have liked what he saw as a non-Christian structure with what could 

be construed as Masonic symbolism. The 3rd Earl remains to this day in the grave in 

Cobham Church where he was interred, supposedly temporarily, in 1781.   

 

Remarkable though it is architecturally, the mausoleum has therefore always stood 

empty. Once the hall was sold off in the 1950s and there was no longer an estate 

gamekeeper to keep an eye on it, the Grade I mausoleum became increasingly 

vulnerable to vandalism in its isolated setting. On 19th April 1972, a SPAB working 

party of 42 was assembled for ‘the clean up of the Darnley mausoleum.’ London 

members were advised by the then Secretary Monica Dance to catch the 9.49am 

down from Victoria (and the insurance for the task was supplied by none other than 

Ecclesiastical, who contributed so generously to Landmark’s restoration of the Dairy). 

A second working party came the following month, in preparation of bricking up the 

mausoleum. But vandals burst through again, and it continued to deteriorate. There 

was talk of dismantling the mausoleum and re-erecting it elsewhere, even in the 

United States. On 5 November 1980 a huge bonfire of tyres and petrol canisters was 

lit in the crypt, and the chapel floor collapsed, its interior also ruined. The site 

continued to be the focus of mindless destruction and eventually became littered with 

some ninety car wrecks, burnt out after joy riding.  

 

The mausoleum became a conservation cause célèbre. Landmark was aware of the 

building but judged that it would be hard to make it into a nice place to stay for a 

holiday without unduly compromising its rather melancholy original purpose. After a 

long legal tussle, permission was granted to developers to convert the mausoleum 

into a grand residence, but they then went bust.  
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The Darnley mausoleum today, after meticulous restoration. The domed central 
chamber is decorated as a funerary chapel. The vaulted basement holds numerous 

coffin shelves, never filled. 
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Finally, the Cobham Ashenbank Management Scheme was set up in 2001 as a 

consortium between the National Trust, English Heritage, Cobham Hall, Natural 

England, the Woodland Trust, Kent County Council and Gravesham Council to 

develop a scheme to restore Cobham Park and its landscapes to Repton’s orginal 

conception. Momentum gathered pace for the mausoleum’s restoration as an 

extraordinary example of Georgian design, especially after it featured in the BBC TV’s 

‘Restoration’ series in 2003. Gravesham Borough Council found the £150,000 to buy 

the mausoleum and its surrounding woods from the liquidators of the developer, and 

eventually the National Lottery Heritage Fund awarded a massive grant of £5m to 

CAMS, with an additional £746,000 from the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, on 

condition that the building then passed to the National Trust.  The restoration was 

completed in 2013, and it opened to the public April 2014. Today, the mausoleum 

itself is only occasionally open to the public from April to September, though its 

exterior can be viewed from Lodge Lane as it leads south-east through the woodland 

from the end of the Dairy’s holloway. The ancient woodland has many ‘veteran’ trees 

(a tree considered of exceptional cultural, landscape or conservation value for its great 

age, size or condition). 
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Lodge Farm and the South Lodge 

The lane across the fields that leads to Landmarkers’ access to the Dairy is guarded 

by South Lodge, once part of Lodge Farm but now also owned by the National Trust. 

The farm itself is of ancient origin, once well set upon the old Cobham to Rochester 

road, and has taken various forms over the centuries. It probably monitored access 

onto the Cobham Hall estate in some way, until the 2nd Earl obtained a writ of closure 

for the road in the 1740s. Essentially a home farm where some of the estate workers 

were housed, all the usual activities of the time were carried on here in 1781 – a hop 

garden of 20,000 poles, an oasthouse and brewhouse, wheat and oat barns, 

granaries, a hog pound, as well as stabling for ten working oxen, and an octagonal 

dovecote probably dating to the 3rd Earl’s time.  

 

The 4th Earl of Darnley was a great improver of agriculture on the estate as well as 

reworking the hall and its grounds. He reorganised the agricultural activities on the 

site, absorbing some acreage into the Deer Park but making the rest more efficient, 

and building many more farm buildings for various functions. The main milking house 

was transferred from another estate farm to Lodge Farm, conveniently close to the 

Dairy whose couple of cows in its own byre would not have served the needs of the 

entire estate. Timber, very important for the estate finances, was now brought to 

Lodge Farm for finishing, and a saw-pit was created. The hop garden, however, 

moved to another farm and the oast house at Lodge Farm was converted into three 

cottages in 1802.  

 

In improving his estate, the 4th Earl was also keen to define its boundaries, which he 

did by building a string of lodges and keepers’ houses around its perimeter. Most of 

these have since been lost, but South Lodge (or more awkwardly originally Lodge 

Farm Lodge) survives. Unusually, there is little in the normally thorough estate 

accounts about this pretty cottage orné. It is roughly contemporary with the Dairy and 

probably built to a rough design by Wyatt, although no drawings exist. Its pointed 

arched windows, leaded lights, prominent chimney stack and gnarled timber porch 

became standard fare in the later pattern books for the picturesque cottage genre, but 

this is quite an early example. The cottage was ideally placed to monitor traffic, its 
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quaint appearance belying the need for organised and tightly patrolled surveillance of 

the vulnerable park and its lifestock from poachers and rustlers.  

 

South Lodge survives, but otherwise most of the 4th Earl’s farm buildings at the farm 

are long gone, burnt down as is the way of things or else cleared to make way for the 

more utilitarian concrete and steel barns and silos we erect today. 
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Cobham Dairy in 2013 before Landmark’s restoration – a consolidated 

shell, but a scene of dereliction inside. 
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The Dairy before restoration by Landmark 
 

The pragmatic 1983 stabilisation and weatherproofing led by John Sell had a least 

stabilised the Dairy as a weatherproof shell, as we began to plan its full restoration in 

2014, and it had escaped the attentions of the vandals since then, being within the 

school grounds. The school authorities had kept vegetation back, and the building 

continued to play its role in the landscape, albeit looking very different from Wyatt’s 

intention. The roof had been stripped and entirely renewed in modern slates; new 

window frames had been put in to take fixed boards. Any cladding slates that could be 

salvaged had been taken away and stored in the hope of an eventual solution. The 

cladding on the sheltered and less vandal-accessible west elevation, which was still 

sound despite the decades of neglect, was left in situ. 

 

Inside, we found a scene of utter desolation behind the boarded-up windows. In the 

few places that plaster survived, scraps hung by whisker; where plaster had fallen, 

lathes peeled away as iron nails rusted away. The central, font-like pan stand and 

marble shelf had gone from the main chamber, whose floor was fragmented, with 

many pieces missing. 
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Despite the widespread decay, enough evidence survived for us to be 

confident of achieving a full restoration. 
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Restoration of Cobham Dairy 
 

The planning of the Dairy’s restoration took an unusually long time. As well as 

wayleaves to bring in electricity and water from the school and neighbouring farmland 

respectively, there was a lease to be negotiated with the National Trust for access 

along the Lodge Lane (this in itself took years). As no site traffic was permitted along 

this track, we were reliant on the school’s goodwill for access down the side of the 

south lawn, and subject to safeguarding procedures for the pupils. Planning consents 

also took an unusually long time to come through, and as the estate was once the site 

of a Roman villa, any service trenches were subject to an archaeological watching 

brief. Tree works had to be planned outside the nesting season, and we were 

successively ambushed by the presence of bats and badgers, whose roosts in the 

building and wandering setts along the holloway respectively meant further, inevitable 

delays. Landmarker access down the ancient holloway and the creation of a turning 

circle was one of the last tasks undertaken right at the end of the project, the badgers 

by now having happily moved on. 

 

After patiently enduring all these external delays, and with materials long since 

ordered and delivered, our contractors, Colman Building Contractors of Canterbury, 

finally moved on site in October 2018, where they would be for the next 12 months. 

Working in such a tiny building and in such a setting brings its own challenges, 

requiring careful scheduling of the various trades involved. A temporary track had to 

be rolled out along the lawn approach as it became clear that the approach became 

liquid mud in wet weather. 

 

There was no reason to replace the 1980s slate roof, but the flat copper roofs above 

the cloisters did need replacing (now with mineral felt), as did much of the solid wood 

parapet that runs at eaves level. The Portland stone copings on the chimney also had 

to be replaced, to the form specified by Wyatt in his drawings. New wrought iron finials 

were made for each of the pyramidal corner roofs. 
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The orginal slate cladding on the west gable was 
still sound, and skilfully shaped fragments also 
remained in some of the cloister openings. There 
were enough usable salvaged slates for the 
upper, clerestory level. 
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The brickwork, left exposed for so many decades when it was built to be covered, was 

not in good condition. There was a lot of repointing to be done and the upper walls of 

the north and south elevations were found to be bulging and had to be taken down 

and rebuilt. A big decision at the outset was whether we could reinstate the slate 

cladding from scratch, replicating a long lost technique. Initially, reinstatement wasn’t 

a given. We were worried about supply of suitable slate and about cost and 

maintenance: it was clearly going to demand time and skill to fix the slates, especially 

around the pointed openings. But we knew we really had to reinstate Wyatt’s cladding. 

Heartened too by its success at Soho House, we set out to find out as much as we 

could about it from the evidence on site, commissioning specialist reports on the 

cladding.   

 

It turned out that the slates came from both Penrhyn and Ffestiniog, the natural 

variation in colour between these sources not presenting Wyatt with a problem 

because they were painted. The slates were found to be bedded on slate slips with a 

mastic made of lead white and whiting bound with linseed oil. This bedding enabled 

the external surface to be made plumb true.  The slates were carefully nailed into the 

joints of the underlying brickwork with large wrought iron nails, by now corroding.  

 

Once we had gathered the slates in from the ruinous shed in the walled garden where 

they had been stored, and laid them all out to check what we had, we set about re-

cladding the Dairy. We had enough salvaged tiles for the upper clerestory level; the 

slate on the main ground floor is all new, and all from Ffestiniog. The slates sit on 

slate slips just as at Soho House. We knew we would struggle to replicate the 18th- 

century putty recipe of white lead, lime and linseed oil, not least since white lead is no 

longer a permitted ingredient, so lime mortar was used rather than oil-bound putty to 

ensure levelling out.  
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Repairing the slate cladding. A lime 
mortar bedding allowed a flush surface to 
be achieved, before fixing the slates with 
stainless steel nails into the brickwork 
joints – an exacting task, especially 
around the openings. 
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Stainless steel fixings were used in place of rust-prone wrought iron nails, and the 

fixing holes have been filled with polyester resin which we know will not shrink, but 

which is the modern equivalent of Wyatt’s putty fillling. The joints between the slates, 

specified to be no more than 2mm wide, have all been pointed in lime putty. 

 

A further problem to be resolved was an internal iron strap set right round the building 

during the 1980s for added stability. This had to be removed if the internal plaster  

was to be replaced. On the advice of the structural engineer, metal rods were instead 

bedded into the joints of the brickwork, for additional reinforcement. 

 
Paint analysis told us that the Dairy had been painted inside and out, on cladding and 

joinery alike, in a stone-coloured, sanded paint. After various trials we concluded that 

there was little difference in appearance whether silver sand was mixed into, or blown 

onto, the paint, so we have mixed it in 3:1 paint:sand by volume, which will also make 

replication easier for maintenance. On the exterior, three coats of Keim Soldalit paint 

were applied across all elements. By scoring the slate joints after the second coat, the 

building once again reads as ashlar. Internally, a matching distemper has been used, 

to complete the illusion of an entirely stone building. 

 

When the floors were taken up to install the underfloor heating, a brick culvert was 

discovered running north from the centre of the main chamber for carrying away the 

waste from the Dairy pot stand. Given the decorative nature of the floor, we felt that 

registering its footprint on the top surface would not be appropriate and that it had to 

be sacrificed for the underfloor heating installation, which has been laid on foamed 

glass insulation. The shallow brick vault discovered beneath the Dairymaid’s bedroom 

was in danger of collapse, and so it was an easier decision simply to backfill it after 

seeking permission and recording. The original Portland stone floor was then carefully 

re-laid in the bedroom. 
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The north and south clerestory walls were found to be bulging and had to be 
taken down and rebuilt. Metal ties have been concealed between the brick 

courses for added strength. 
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Example of the paint analysis of the 18th-century sanded paint applied to 

the slate cladding 
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Laying out the salvaged floor in the main chamber, 
removed to install the underfloor heating. It’s unclear 

whether this was laid in the late 18th- or 19th-century; either 
way, it is another fine feature of the building. 
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Stone analysis revealed that the existing floor we found in the central chamber 

(apparently dating to the late 19th century) was made of Portland stone paviours 

threaded with red Cumbrian sandstone slips. The original Cumbrian quarry had closed 

but we were able to find a good match to piece in the missing tiles. 

 
Re-making the window frames was an exacting task that took much discussion, not 

least as some are opening and some fixed, but all needed to keep the same frame 

dimensions whether open or closed. The saddle bars too required careful placing.  

 

In March 2019, master plasterer Philip Gaches and his two apprentices (and sons) 

Will and Jude moved on site, together with specialist moulder, Anna Castilla Vila, who 

hailed from Barcelona. Colman’s joinery subcontractors had already made the 

complicated framing for the quadripartite vaulting in the main chamber according to 

Wyatt’s plans (the main chamber ceiling was inevitably lost during the 1980s re-

roofing, if indeed it had not already fallen in). This was a highly skilled task, with so 

many curved elements to be assembled at precisely the right angles. The framing in 

the cloisters was similarly repaired or recreated as necessary in the same way.  

 

Philip would later say that it was an unusual ‘treat’ for him to be able to recreate an 

entire groined ceiling for the main chamber, his services being more typically sought 

for conservation and repair work.  Philip’s team’s first task was to re-lathe throughout, 

in riven chestnut lathes for better key and strength. This done, they could turn to 

plastering the walls and vaults, in a mix of 2½ parts well-graded fine sand (<2mm) to 

one part non-hydraulic lime for the scratch and float coats, finished with 1:1 silversand 

and lime putty for the top coat. 
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Wyatt’s drawings set out detailed instructions for the plasterers, including 
the corbel design (top) and profiles for the ribs, including which profile was 

to be used where (bottom right, the moulding for the cloisters).  
Yale Center for British Art 



                                                                          Cobham Dairy History Album 
 
 

 
 
 

87 

   

Preparing the 
framing for the 
plaster was an 
exacting task for 
the carpenters. 
The vaulted ceiling 
in the main 
chamber had to be 
completely 
recreated (below), 
In the cloisters 
(above), patching 
in around 
surviving fabric 
was a delicate task 
of a different 

order. 
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Creating the plaster ribs: the patterns for the 
profile; string is used to reinforce the line; all 
ceilings and walls had to be re-lathed, and 
Anna Castilla Vila working on the ribs in the 
south cloister (today’s kitchen, the end 
doorway boarded up for protection during the 
works). 
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Master plasterer Philip Gaches and Anna 
Castilla Vila discussing their approach on 
site. Philip’s sons and apprentices, Jude and 
Will Gaches, also worked on site (below). 

Gaches are now a three generation firm. 
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Anna based her designs for the ceiling 
bosses on a single survivor and also on 
Bernasconi’s 18th-century work for Wyatt in 
Cobham Hall. Each element was hand 

modelled and then carefully fixed in place. 
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The moulding of the ribs was originally done in gypsum, lime putty and chalk but, as 

18th-century gypsum was different from today’s, 100% gypsum is now the 

recommended mix. Wyatt’s designs helpfully provided not only two profiles for the 

ribs, but also specified which should be used in the various parts of the building. A 

wooden ‘horse’ is used to run the profile of the plaster ribs, along a guiding piece of 

twine at their core for added resilience in the running. Continual runs are made, with 

constant minor modest adjustments by hand until a perfect run is achieved. The 

wooden ‘horse’ used to profile the ribs cannot be run all the way to their convergence, 

so the ‘star’ where the ribs converge has to be modelled by hand. 

 

For the modelling work, very well-haired lime plaster was used, for a ‘very plastic 

plaster’ in Anna’s words. The few battered examples of corbels from which the ceiling 

ribs spring that survived in the cloisters were clearly skilled work, originally modelled in 

situ rather than cast. They seemed to represented small vine or oak leaves trailing 

around a twig and three stems. Wyatt’s design drawings were not helpful here, since 

he drew acanthus leaves, and these are not. These battered corbels were carefully 

consolidated and retained, as were all fragments of original plaster that were 

salvageable. 

 

Anna and Philip also thought hard about the design of the bosses to be reinstated, 

since only one survived and there was no documentary evidence for them. However, 

on visiting the dining room in Cobham Hall, also by Wyatt and attributed to Francis 

Bernasconi, similar entwined oak leaf clusters and roses were apparent. These and 

the lone survivor formed Anna’s model, adding in a few of her own design too.  A cast 

was taken of the surviving boss, and individual elements cast from the mould before 

being individually placed and moulded by hand, to keep the ‘free form’ feel apparent in 

the 18th-century craftsmen’s work. 

 

The marble for the shelf that runs around the main chamber is again Carrara as it was 

originally, the dimensions known from Wyatt’s designs and its height confirmed by the 

mark left on the wall by the original.  
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John Corley working on the 
glass for the windows in his 
Deal studio: scoring and 
snapping the lozenges for the 
cames, and painting the coats 

of arms for the front door. 
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The cast iron supports also had to be carefully sourced, and today’s foundry 

catalogues yielded nothing quite right in height or form to match either Wyatt’s 

drawing or an early photo. In the end, Landmark’s furnishing manager John Evetts 

briefed his in-house joiner Mark Smitten to create a mock-up of the clustered stems in 

wood, that were then cast. Mark also made the kitchen. We had just enough intact 

floor slabs salvaged from the cloisters to cover its floor. The kitchen windows, which of 

course are our insertion, are deliberately simpler than those in primary positions. 

 

We knew from oral memories as well as the documentary evidence that the Dairy’s 

leaded windows were originally edged by red, blue and yellow slips of glass. This was 

a common enough treatment in other Georgian follies and model buildings, and was 

used in the glass screen Wyatt was installing in the entrance hall to Cobham Hall, at 

the same time as he was building the Dairy. 

 

However, we also needed painted armorial bearings for the glass entrance doors, to 

evoke those done by Mr Warren in 1798. The 4th Earl’s Darnley arms were known – 

but there was confusion about the correct ones for his Countess, and we were keen to 

include these too, given that dairies were such feminine spaces. This proved trickier: 

no one could be sure which of the many Darnley arms in the Hall were the 4th 

Countess’s. We were struggling with the clock ticking for the glass’s creation – and 

finally consulted the College of Arms. Enter the dashingly named herald, Blue 

Poursuivant, who saved us from confusing the 1st and 4th Countess’s arms. The 

Herald also told us that the arms the Brownlows were using in the 1790s were not in 

fact granted to them until 1840, 50 years after the Dairy was built.  But such informal 

adoption was common at the time, so, he felt, it was legitimate for us to use them in 

the Dairy. The handmade coloured glass has been set into the carefully remade 

window frames and cames by the John Corley Studio in Deal, to wonderful effect 

when the sun shines upon them.  

 

For the decorative coats of arms, John used 'flashed glass' which is glass dipped as it 

is blown and then flattened to produce a sheet of two colours. By scraping or burning 

off the top layer according to the design, the lower colour is revealed, before the final 

details are carefully painted on. According to convention, when viewed from the 
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inside, the Earl’s arms are set on the left, and his Countess’s on the right, completing 

the conceit of the model Dairy masquerading as a little medieval chapel. 

 

The rich colours of the stained glass breathes instant magic into the finished building, 

when the shadows of the leaded lights and filtered sunlight move across the plastered 

walls in a rich tapestry of light. Even if butter is no longer churned here, Elizabeth, 4th 

Countess of Darnley’s enchanting pleasure Dairy is once more fit for polite company 

and the pleasure of good conversation.  
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Some examples of other pleasure dairies 
 
     

The Milk Cellar at Paleis Het Loo, created for Mary II before she took the throne 

in England in 1689. She later created a dairy at Hampton Court (since lost).  

John Soane’s design 
for a dairy for Lady 
Craven in 1781 
mimics an ancient 
temple. Lady Craven 
had a long-standing 
interest in dairies 
and later lived in 
France, where her 
bucolic pleasure 
Dairy possibly 
inspired Marie-
Antoinette to build 
her own at 
Versailles. 
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The Dairy at Sezincote, 
Glos, designed by Samuel 
Cockerell c.1805, also 
presented like a chapel, 
perhaps even more 
convincingly than at 
Cobham. It was set in 
another Humphry Repton 

landscape.   
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The little thatched dairy at 
Endsleigh in Devon, also in 
Landmark’s care there 
alongside Pond Cottage and 
Swiss Cottage, has an 
exceptionally well-preserved 
interior. It was built for 
Georgiana, Duchess of 
Bedford, by Jeffry Wyatville in 
1805 in yet another 
collaboration with Repton.  
 
Pond Cottage also 
incorporates a former cow 
byre alongside the 
accommodation for the 
Dairymaid.  
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Pleasure dairies came in every style. 
Clockwise from top: Belvoir Dairy, c.1810, 
probably designed by James Wyatt; the Tower 
of the Winds at Shugborough, 1803 by James 
Stuart, altered by Samuel Wyatt, and the 
Chinese Dairy at Woburn, by Henry Holland, 
1787. The porch was added later by James 
Wyatt.  
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Charles Dickens’ chalet 
 

 

Dickens knew Cobham village well, although the story he circulated, that the long 

avenue of limes leading to the Hall from the village approach was only used to carry 

away dead lords of Cobham Hall, had no foundation. He owned a Swiss Chalet that 

he used as a retreat for writing at Gad’s Hill Place, his last home. The chalet was a 

Christmas gift from a French actor friend, Charles Fechter, and arrived in 58 packing 

cases at Higham railway station on Christmas Eve 1864. With the eventual help of the 

stage carpenter of the Lyceum Theatre in London, the chalet was erected on land 

Dickens owned across the road from his house on Gad’s Hill. The chalet was sited for 

views of the river Thames in the distance, and Dickens had a telescope to watch 

passing boats. Dickens was writing the final chapter of The Mystery of Edwin Drood in 

the chalet on 9 June 1870, the day he collapsed and died of a stroke on his way 

home. After Dickens' death, the chalet passed to his eldest son, then to his sister-in-

law, and thereafter to the 9th Earl of Darnley, who had it erected in Cobham Park. 

Here it stayed until 1961, when the 10th Earl sold it for a nominal sum to the Rochester 

branch of the Dickens Fellowship. At the time of writing, the chalet is to be found is in 

the garden of Eastgate House in Rochester. It is in a fragile condition and awaits its 

own restoration.  
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